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�This article in the Juvenile Instructor of January 15, 1885, elicited a series of articles about the history 
of Gibraltar and missionary work there by Edward Stevenson.
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Proselyting on the Rock of Gibraltar, 
1853–1855
The Letters of Edward Stevenson to the 
Juvenile Instructor in 1885

Reid L. Neilson

In January 1885, the Mormon Juvenile Instructor magazine ran a short 
cover story on the history of Gibraltar, known as “the Rock,” the Brit-

ish overseas territory located on the southern tip of the Iberian Penin-
sula bordering Spain. While the magazine aimed to educate Latter-day 
Saints about the cosmopolitan world generally, the Rock did have a 
noteworthy place in Mormon history. The editor, George Q. Cannon, 
wrote, “As in the mother country [Great Britain] all religious societies 
are said to enjoy perfect freedom. Still when Elders Edward Stevenson 
and N[athan] T. Porter arrived in Gibraltar in March, 1853, to preach 
‘Mormonism,’ they were immediately taken before the police to plead 
their cause.” Cannon concluded his short secular and religious history 
of the British territory, “Elder Porter was required to leave and the only 
thing which saved Elder Stevenson from sharing the same fate was the 
fact that he had been born on the rock; still he was forbidden to preach 
his religion. He, however, during his labors of one year, and amid great 
privations and trials, succeeded in bringing several persons into the 
Church.”1 More than three decades had passed since the First Presidency 
had sent Stevenson and Porter to Gibraltar as missionaries by the time 
the related magazine article appeared in the Juvenile Instructor in 1885.

Another article on the Rock or even a mention of British Gibraltar 
in the future pages of the Juvenile Instructor would have been highly 
unlikely had the cover story not caught the eye of Stevenson, by then 
sixty-four years old and living in northern Utah. Upon reading the short 

1. “Gibraltar,” Juvenile Instructor 20 (January 15, 1885): 18.
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article on his native homeland, he excitedly wrote a letter to the edi-
tor of the Juvenile Instructor, which Cannon published the following 
month. “On the first page of No. 2 of the present volume of your maga-
zine there is presented a very good view of Gibraltar,” Stevenson began 
his response. “This being the place of my birth (May 1st, 1820), and as 
Gibraltar is such an interesting place and has played such an impor-
tant part in the struggle in Europe between Christianity and Paganism, 
therefore I venture a few more facts, historically, concerning this place 
which is very attractive to sight-seers and is one of the most glorious 
possessions of Europe.”2 Desiring that his fellow Latter-day Saints in the 
Intermountain West might better appreciate the secular history of his 
British homeland, Stevenson launched into a prolonged secular history 
of the Rock, which ran for months in the Mormon magazine.3 He con-
cluded his seventh epistle on the history of Gibraltar with the following 
synopsis: “It is the key to the Mediterranean and is of great importance 
in the defense of England against foreign powers.”4

But beginning with his eighth letter, Stevenson’s ten subsequent mis-
sives (for a total of seventeen letters to the Juvenile Instructor) chronicle 
his Mormon “missionary experience”5 as a young elder in Gibraltar in 
1853–55. “At a special conference held in Salt Lake City, August 28, 1852, 
I was called to take a mission to Gibraltar in company with Elder N T. 
Porter,” he began his proselyting narrative. “It was at this conference 
that the revelation on celestial marriage was first made public, and was 
taken to the world by the greatest number of Elders that had ever been 
called on missions at any one time before.”6 Stevenson then narrates 
his mission to Gibraltar with great passion and some prejudice: the 

2. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar [Letter I],” Juvenile Instructor 20 (Febru-
ary 15, 1885): 55.

3. Stevenson, “Gibraltar [Letter I],” Juvenile Instructor 20 (February 15, 1885): 
55; Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter II,” Juvenile Instructor 20 (March  1, 
1885): 66; Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter III,” Juvenile Instructor 20 
(March 15, 1885): 93–94; Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter IV,” Juvenile 
Instructor 20 (April 1, 1885): 100; Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter V,” Juve-
nile Instructor 20 (April 15, 1885): 118; Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter VI,” 
Juvenile Instructor 20 (May 1, 1885): 130–31; and Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, 
Letter VII,” Juvenile Instructor 20 (May 15, 1885): 159.

4. Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter VII,” Juvenile Instructor 20 (May 15, 1885): 159.
5. Unlike letters 1–7, letters 8–17 all have “missionary experience” in their 

subtitles.
6. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter VIII, Missionary Experience,” Juve-

nile Instructor 20 (June 1, 1885): 175.
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righteous Mormons are constantly trying to build Zion at home and 
abroad while the wicked Protestants and Catholics he encounters are 
trying to thwart their progress at every turn. His story is filled with 
black and white characters and organizations—there is little gray in his 
reminiscent account—like the memoirs left by so many Latter-day Saint 
missionaries during the nineteenth-century.

Still, Stevenson’s detailed account of his experiences in Gibraltar is 
significant because he was one of only two Latter-day Saints to ever 
proselyte and temporarily establish the Church on the Rock during the 
first 140  years of the Church’s history. As a native-born Gibraltarian, 
British citizen, and later American resident, he offered a unique per-
spective on his missionary experiences. There was no one else qualified 
or available to tell this chapter of the Mormon past. Moreover, Steven-
son was one of the great personal record keepers of his generation. His 
contemporary journals and reminiscent accounts of the early events 
of the Restoration, including the experiences of Joseph Smith, remain 
some of the most trusted resources to this day.

Stevenson’s Early Years

Stevenson was uniquely suited by nativity to serve as a missionary in 
the British colony of Gibraltar. As later experiences made clear, only a 
native Gibraltarian would be allowed to proselyte on the Rock in the 
mid-nineteenth century. Stevenson was born on May 1, 1820, in Gibral-
tar, the fourth son of Joseph Stevenson and Elizabeth Stevens. In 1827, 
at the tender age of seven, he immigrated with his family to the United 
States, settling first in New York and then in Michigan. In 1832, his father 
passed away, leaving him in the care of his mother and siblings. In 1833, 
three years after The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints was 
organized in upstate New York, Mormon missionaries Jared Carter and 
Joseph Woods evangelized in Michigan. Although still a young man, 
Stevenson believed their words and embraced their teachings. He was 
baptized on December 20, 1833, and his mother and several siblings also 
joined the Church. As a family, they gathered with the Latter-day Saints 
in Missouri and endured the trials that followed the Church and its 
members across that state. While living in Far West, Stevenson became 
more acquainted with the Prophet Joseph Smith, having first met him 
while living in Michigan. Stevenson was eventually exiled from Mis-
souri with the body of the Church and moved to the temporary safety 
of Nauvoo, Illinois. There he married his first wife Nancy A. Porter (the 
sister of his future missionary companion Nathan T. Porter) in 1845 and 
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was endowed in the Nauvoo Temple in 1846. He crossed the plains in 
the Charles C. Rich Company in 1847, his first of nearly twenty crossings 
over the plains on behalf of the Church as a leader and missionary.7

Nathan T. Porter

Stevenson’s brother-in-law, Nathan Tanner Porter, was born on July 10, 
1820, in Corinth, Vermont, to Sanford and Nancy Porter. In 1830, Lyman 
Wight and John Carrol preached to the Porter family in Illinois, and 
they were baptized in August 1831. They joined the main body of Saints, 
first moving to Independence, Missouri, in 1832 and then to Nauvoo, 
Illinois, in 1839. Porter was called on missions to the eastern states in 
1841 and 1844, but he returned early from his 1844 mission because of 
the martyrdom of Joseph and Hyrum Smith. In 1847, the Sanford Por-
ter family left Nauvoo and arrived in the Salt Lake Valley that October. 
Nathan married Rebecca Ann Cherry on November 12, 1848. He was 
called to accompany Stevenson to Gibraltar in 1852.8

The Early Mormon Mission to Gibraltar

Mormon evangelism in the Mediterranean world began several years 
before Church leaders assigned Edward Stevenson and Nathan T. Porter 
to Gibraltar in August 1852. In February 1849, less than two years after 
he led the vanguard company of Mormon pioneers into the Salt Lake 
Valley, President Brigham Young called four new Apostles—Charles C. 
Rich, Lorenzo Snow, Erastus Snow, and Franklin D. Richards—to the 
Quorum of the Twelve. That fall Young assigned three Apostles to lead 
the Church’s new missions in Europe: John Taylor to France; Lorenzo 
Snow to Italy; and Erastus Snow to Denmark. These Apostles led the 
beginnings of Mormon missionary work in continental Europe. Lorenzo 

7. “Three-Quarters of a Century,” Deseret Evening News, May 1, 1895, 1; 
Andrew Jenson, Latter-day Saint Biographical Encyclopedia: A Compilation of 
Biographical Sketches of Prominent Men and Women in The Church of Jesus 
Christ of Latter-day Saints, 4 vols. (Salt Lake City: Andrew Jenson Historical Co. 
and Andrew Jenson Memorial Association, 1901–36), 1:214–16; Joseph Grant 
Stevenson, “The Life of Edward Stevenson, Member of the First Council of Sev-
enty, Friend of the Prophet Joseph Smith and the Three Witnesses” (master’s 
thesis, Brigham Young University, 1955).

8. Nathan Tanner Porter, “The Record of Nathan Tanner Porter,” typescript, 
MS 15250, Church History Library.
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Snow and his companions—Joseph Toronto, Thomas Stenhouse, and 
Jabez Woodard—arrived in Italy in June 1850 and began proselyting 
among the Waldensians, a Protestant splinter group in northwest Italy. 
Over the next two years they translated and published the Book of Mor-
mon in Italian. But missionary work was difficult among the Italians, 
Protestant or Catholic.9 Struggling to find a foothold in Italy, Lorenzo 
Snow determined to expand his Italian Mission into the larger Mediter-
ranean world and even into British India to the east. In early 1851, he 
sent William Willis and Hugh Findlay to India10 and Thomas Lorenzo 
Obray to Malta.11 Snow had intended to go to India himself, but the ves-
sel he intended to take was damaged.12

In the spring of 1852, Lorenzo Snow was called back to Church head-
quarters in Utah along with the other Apostles evangelizing in Europe. 
Before he left, however, he expressed his hope that missionary work 
might spread to the Iberian Peninsula. That May, Snow issued a call 
from the mission headquarters in Malta for Mormon elders to begin 
proselyting work in Gibraltar. Sharing his desires with President Samuel 
W. Richards of the British Mission, he explained: “The English and Ital-
ian languages are much spoken at Gibraltar as well as the Spanish, and 
we are anxious to see the kingdom of God beginning to spread its light if 
possible through the Spanish dominions, and feel to do all in our power 
to effect so desirable an object. We cannot help but believe that the 
Lord has some good people in that place.” Snow himself was apparently 

9. See James A. Toronto, “‘A Continual War, Not of Arguments, but of 
Bread and Cheese’: Opening the First LDS Mission in Italy, 1849–67,” Journal of 
Mormon History 31 (Summer 2005): 188–232; and Michael W. Homer, “Il Libro 
di Mormon: Anticipating Growth beyond Italy’s Waldensian Valleys,” Journal of 
Book of Mormon Studies 11, no. 1 (2002): 40–44.

10. See R. Lanier Britsch, “The East India Mission of 1851–56: Crossing the 
Boundaries of Culture, Religion, and Law,” Journal of Mormon History 27 (Fall 
2001): 150–76; and R.  Lanier Britsch, Nothing More Heroic: The Compelling 
Story of the First Latter-day Saint Missionaries in India (Salt Lake City: Deseret 
Book, 1999).

11. Andrew Jenson, “Malta Mission,” in Encyclopedic History of the Church 
of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints (Salt Lake City: Deseret News Publishing, 
1941), 465–66.

12. David J. Whittaker, “Richard Ballantyne and the Defense of Mormonism 
in India in the 1850s,” in Supporting Saints: Life Stories of Nineteenth-Century 
Mormons, ed. Donald Q. Cannon and David J. Whittaker (Provo, Utah: Reli-
gious Studies Center, 1985), 179–80. 
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planning to visit Gibraltar to 
observe conditions firsthand.13 

“In a few days I will have com-
pleted my arrangements here and 
shall then, the Lord willing, take 
my departure for that country, 
and spend there what little time 
yet remains at my control, with 
a view of making an opening as 
wisdom may direct.” The Apostle 
then asked for a “wise, energetic, 
faithful, and experienced Elder” 
to begin proselyting on the Rock, 
as well as additional missionaries 
for Bombay, India.14

Samuel Richards published 
Snow’s letter in his mission’s peri-
odical, the Millennial Star, and 
added his own letter of endorse-
ment to open the Rock to mis-
sionary work. “The letter of Elder 
Lorenzo Snow, published in the 
last Number of the Star, contains an important call for Elders, to assist 
in moving on the work in Gibraltar and Bombay, to which we cheerfully 
respond, and hope the Presidents of Conferences will report to us, with-
out delay, such Elders as they may be acquainted with, who are suitably 
qualified for those important stations.” President Richards suggested 
that single elders or those married men who “can provide for their fami-
lies” would be excellent choices. “An Elder with some knowledge of the 
French, Spanish, and Italian languages, would be peculiarly adapted to 

13. The first foreign LDS missions were created in Great Britain, and from 
there missionaries were sent throughout the British Empire. The plan to start 
a mission in Gibraltar fits this pattern. See, for example, “The Church in 1870,” 
in Mapping Mormonism: An Atlas of Latter-day Saint History, ed. Brandon S. 
Plewe, 2d ed. (Provo, Utah: BYU Press, 2014), 120–21.

14. Lorenzo Snow to Samuel W. Richards, Malta, May 1, 1852, published as 
Lorenzo Snow, “The Malta Mission: Letter from Elder Lorenzo Snow,” Millen-
nial Star 14 (June 5, 1852): 236–37.

�Edward Stevenson, photo undated. Cour-
tesy Church History Library, © Intellec-
tual Reserve Inc.

7

Neilson: Proselyting on the Rock of Gibraltar, 1853-1855

Published by BYU ScholarsArchive, 2016



  V	 101Proselyting on the Rock of Gibraltar

fill the call for Gibraltar.”15 With his three-year mission complete, Snow 
departed from Malta and the Italian Mission, stopping over in Gibraltar 
for several days on his way to Liverpool, England. After crossing the 
Atlantic to New York City, he arrived in Salt Lake City on July 30, 1852.16 
One month later, Snow’s hopes of opening Gibraltar to missionary work 
and sending more elders to India were realized when the First Presi-
dency called a special missionary conference in Salt Lake City.

By the summer of 1852, Stevenson, Porter, and their families had been 
living in the Salt Lake Valley for over four years. In late August, about 
two thousand Latter-day Saints gathered at the Tabernacle in Salt Lake 
City to receive counsel from Church leaders. President Brigham Young 
stated the purpose of the early conference was to conduct “business 
pertaining to foreign missions, and of giving to the brethren an oppor-
tunity to cross the plains before the cold weather.” On Saturday morning, 
August 28, 1852, First Counselor Heber C. Kimball, Apostles George A. 
Smith, John Taylor, and Ezra T. Benson, and President Brigham Young 
gave sermons on the importance of missionary work. They spoke of it as 
a sacred responsibility and mentioned its associated difficulties.17

When President Young finished his sermon, Thomas Bullock, clerk 
of the conference, concluded the session by reading the names of the 
more than one hundred elders who were assigned to serve missions 
throughout the world. They were assigned to England, Ireland, Wales, 
France, Germany, Berlin, Norway, Denmark, Gibraltar, Hindustan 
(India), Siam (Thailand), China, the Cape of Good Hope (South Africa), 
Nova Scotia and the British Provinces (Canada), the West Indies, British 
Guiana, Texas, New Orleans, St. Louis, Iowa, Washington D.C., Austra-
lia, and the Sandwich (Hawaiian) Islands.18 In the years between the 
1844 martyrdom of Joseph Smith and this 1852 conference, the highest 
number of missionaries was seventy-two in 1845, and the average num-
ber of missionaries between 1845 and 1851 was about forty-four.19 The 
dramatic increase in missionary numbers seems to have been driven by 

15. Samuel W. Richards, “Editorial: Call for Elders for Gibraltar and Bom-
bay,” Millennial Star 14 (June 12, 1852): 250.

16. Eliza R. Snow Smith, Biography and Family Record of Lorenzo Snow (Salt 
Lake City: Deseret News, 1884), 230–32.

17. “A Special Conference of the Elders of The Church of Jesus Christ of 
Latter-Day-Saints,” Deseret News Extra, September 14, 1852, 7.

18. “Special Conference,” 9–10.
19. Gordon Irving, “Numerical Strength and Geographical Distribution of 

the LDS Missionary Force, 1830–1974,” Task Papers in LDS History, no. 1 (Salt 
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the political revolutions that were upheaving European societies, lead-
ing millenarian Mormon leaders to think that the Second Coming of 
Jesus Christ was nigh. Edward Stevenson and Nathan Porter, the only 
two men assigned to Gibraltar, were as stunned at their assignment 
as the other newly called missionaries were at theirs. This conference 
marked one of the most important moments in Mormon missionary 
history.

The next morning, Sunday, August 29, the Latter-day Saints again 
assembled for the concluding sessions of that fall’s general conference. 
It was in this setting that Apostle Orson Pratt first announced publicly 
the Mormon belief in and practice of plural marriage.20 This theologi-
cal bombshell would have a major impact on the missionaries and their 
labors abroad, as well as the lives and families of the missionaries when 
they returned from Europe.

Stevenson’s proselyting efforts in his native Gibraltar mark just the 
beginning of his remarkable missionary legacy for the Church. He 
departed from Utah with the Europe-bound company of missionaries 
in September 1852, arrived in Gibraltar in March 1853, and evangelized 
there until early 1855. When Stevenson returned to Utah in the summer 
of 1855, he entered into polygamy, marrying several additional wives. 
His wives eventually bore him twenty-eight children. After Gibraltar, 
Stevenson served nine additional proselyting missions in North Amer-
ica and Europe and helped lead four emigrating companies from the 
East to Utah. He was also responsible for bringing Book of Mormon 
witness Martin Harris to Utah and for his rebaptism in September 1870. 
Three years after he detailed his missionary experiences in Gibraltar to 
George Q. Cannon and the readers of the Juvenile Instructor in 1885, he 
joined Andrew Jenson and Joseph S. Black on a special Church history 
mission to visit many of the early historic sites of the Restoration.21 In 
October 1894, Stevenson was called to serve as one of the first Seven 
Presidents of Seventies, a position he honorably fulfilled until his pass-
ing on January 27, 1897, in Salt Lake City, Utah. He never did return to 

Lake City: Historical Department of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day 
Saints, 1975), 9–10.

20. “Special Conference,” 14–22.
21. See Reid L. Neilson, Justin R. Bray, and Alan Johnson, eds., Rediscover-

ing the Sites of the Restoration: The 1888 Travel Writings of Mormon Historian 
Andrew Jenson, Edward Stevenson, and Joseph S. Black (Provo, Utah: BYU Reli-
gious Studies Center; Salt Lake City: Deseret Book, 2015).
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his birthplace in Gibraltar following the close of his mission in 1855.22 
And the Church would not have another presence in Gibraltar until the 
early 1970s.23

Nathan Porter also continued to serve in the Church. After being 
forced out of Gibraltar in 1853, he labored in England until January 1856. 
While returning to Utah, he traveled with the Hodgetts company, a 
wagon company that somewhat shepherded the ill-fated Martin hand-
cart company, and they arrived in Salt Lake in December 1856. He mar-
ried his second wife, Eliza Ford, in 1857. Nathan Porter and Edward 
Stevenson were mission companions two more times, in 1869 and 1872, 
when they traveled to the eastern states. Both Stevenson and Porter were 
born in 1820, and they both died in 1897 (Porter died April 8, 1897).24

The Seventeen Letters of Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, 
Editor of the Juvenile Instructor, in 1885

The value of these letters lies in the story they tell of missionary work for 
all who were sent out in the days after the Church publicly announced 
the practice of polygamy. Missionaries faced heavy persecution because 
of opposition to polygamy from magistrates and the general public. Like 
missionaries of other times, they experienced lack of funds, separation 
from family and friends, and having to work with little direction from 
Church leaders. They learned to trust in the Lord; as Stevenson con-
cludes his last letter, “the Lord is good and kind to all who put their trust 
in Him.”25

As described above, Edward Stevenson wrote seventeen letters to 
George Q. Cannon, editor of the Juvenile Instructor, in response to a 
short cover story on the history of Gibraltar, which ran in January 1885. 
The January article barely made mention of Stevenson’s missionary 
sojourn there in 1853–55, nearly thirty years earlier. Cannon published 
Stevenson’s detailed letters in his magazine over a nine-month period, 

22. “Three-Quarters of a Century,” Deseret News, May 1, 1895, 1; and Joseph 
Grant Stevenson, “Stevenson, Edward,” in Encyclopedia of Latter-day Saint His-
tory, 1192.

23. “Gibraltar,” in 2013 Church Almanac (Salt Lake City: Deseret News, 
2014), 591–92.

24. Porter, “Record of Nathan Tanner Porter”; The Church of Jesus Christ of 
Latter-day Saints, Mormon Pioneer Overland Travel, s.v. “Nathan Tanner Porter,” 
https://history.lds.org/overlandtravels/pioneers/20652/nathan-tanner-porter.

25. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter XVII, Missionary Experience,” 
Juvenile Instructor 20 (November 15, 1885): 339.

10
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beginning on February  15 and ending on November 15, 1885. Histori-
ans are reliant on Stevenson’s personal writings and his reminiscent 
accounts for the history of the Gibraltar mission field in the mid-1850s. 
There are no corroborating accounts or documents other than what Ste-
venson personally recorded at the time. Stevenson did send a number of 
letters back to Utah during his early mission, and their contributions to 
our understanding of what he experienced as a young missionary there 
in Gibraltar from 1853 to 1855 are noted below. It appears that Stevenson 
relied heavily on his 1850s writings (such as his letters, Deseret News cor-
respondence, and regular diary entries) when he wrote his 1885 letters to 
Cannon. I have reproduced Stevenson’s letters exactly as they appeared 
in the pages of the Juvenile Instructor (except for format and layout). 
I have not corrected or updated any misspellings or British spellings 
(given that he was a son of a British colony), grammar, or punctuation in 
the transcripts below, except where noted by brackets. Letters 1 through 
7 are not included here because they do not contain any Mormon his-
tory content.
 
 
The Letters

Letter 8: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, June 1, 188526

At a special conference held in Salt Lake City, August 28, 1852, I was 
called to take a mission to Gibraltar in company with Elder N. T. Porter. 
It was at this conference that the revelation on celestial marriage was 
first made public,27 and was taken to the world by the greatest number 
of Elders that had ever been called on missions at any one time before.

26. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter VIII, Missionary Experience,” 
Juvenile Instructor 20 (June 1, 1885): 175. Compare with Edward Stevenson, 

“Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 1,” Deseret News, January 2, 1856, 338–39.
27. At a special conference meeting held August 28 and 29, 1852, Brigham 

Young and Orson Pratt publicly announced the practice of polygamy, which 
had been practiced privately for years. Rumors of Mormons practicing polyg-
amy had long been circulating, but it wasn’t until 1852 that the Mormons openly 
acknowledged it. See David J. Whittaker, “The Bone in the Throat: Orson Pratt 
and the Public Announcement of Plural Marriage,” Western Historical Quar-
terly 18 (July 1987): 293–314.
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It was agreed that the company going east should meet on the Weber 
River, forty-five miles from the city, and we would proceed from that 
point across the plains together. Daniel Spencer was elected captain of 
the company; Orson Spencer, chaplain; and Orson Pratt, preacher and 
general instructor. Our company consisted of eighty-four Elders, who 
had twenty carriages and eighty-eight horses and mules.

In crossing over the Little Mountain our carriage was broken down, 
and we left our baggage there, covered up with a buffalo robe, while we 
returned to the city to have the vehicle repaired. After getting the neces-
sary repairs done we again started, but on account of storms were com-
pelled to camp out at the mouth of Emigration Canyon. The next day we 
arrived at our camp outfit on the Little Mountain just in time to save it 
from a band of roving Indians. That night we camped all alone on the 
Big Mountain and were disturbed in our slumbers by the howling of the 
wolves. We slept very well, however, after having commended ourselves 
to the care of the Lord.

On the 20th of September, 1852, the whole company began to move 
and on the 1st of October we arrived at the Missouri River in the best of 
health and spirits. Our evenings on the journey had been spent around 
the camp fire discussing religious subjects and often being instructed by 
Apostle O. Pratt.

Our company now began to scatter to go to their various fields of 
labor. I joined a company and took steamer for St. Louis. We were kindly 
treated on board. A discussion took place in the cabin between Elder 
O. Pratt and Mr. Storon, president of the Missouri College, resulting in 
a Bible triumph in favor of Apostle Pratt.

In St. Louis, Elder Wm. Pitt found himself without sufficient money 
for his passage to his field of labor and was walking down the street with 
his head bowed down, wondering what he should do to obtain the nec-
essary means. Suddenly he saw before him, on the walk, a ten-dollar bill, 
the exact amount required. He picked it up and after searching in vain 
for the owner, used it for procuring his passage to England. On Novem-
ber 11th,28 twenty-one of us, who had engaged passage to Liverpool on 

28. Stevenson’s letter to the Deseret News, as well as his personal diary, 
indicates that the missionaries actually boarded their ship on November 17. 
Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No.  1,” 338; Edward Stevenson, Diary, 
November 17, 1852, Edward Stevenson Collection, 1849–1922, Church History 
Library, Salt Lake City.
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a sailing vessel of 1,800 tons burden, set sail, and arrived at our destina-
tion on January 5th, 1853.29 We buried one passenger, a Catholic, in the 
open sea. He was sewed up in a blanket and some weights were attached 
to the feet. Burial services, in the absence of one of their priests, were 
read by Elder Perigreen Sessions,30 and he was then slid off a plank into 
the blue waters of the ocean. The usual customhouse overlooking of our 
baggage took place at Liverpool. A French stranger was detected with 
a crust surrounding a quantity of tobacco, making it look like a loaf of 
bread. The experiment cost him $250.00.

While in New York our whole company were provided with passage 
and provisions with the exception of one Elder, who did not have suf-
ficient money to buy food. A stranger came along and passed several of 
us, enquiring concerning our missions. But when he came to the only 
one not yet provided with his outfit, he dropped five dollars into his 
hand. With a tear of gratitude the stranger was blessed and God praised.

After visiting Prest. S. W. Richards31 at 15 Wilton Street, Liver-
pool, and my friends in Leicester, London, Southampton and the Isle 
of Wight, myself and companion took passage from Southampton on 
her majesty’s steam packet, Iberia,32 on February 28th, 1853.33 We had 

29. The missionaries sailed from New York to Liverpool, England, aboard 
the American Union, a Yankee ship that had been built in 1851. The ship oper-
ated in various lines until it became a transient in 1877. Conway B. Sonne, Ships, 
Saints, and Mariners: A Maritime Encyclopedia of Mormon Migration, 1830–
1890 (Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press, 1987), 13.

30. Perrigrine Sessions was on his way to preside over the Manchester Con-
ference in 1852; he got sick on the journey and never recovered, so he was sent 
home in 1854. 

31. Samuel Whitney Richards served many missions, and, from 1852 to 1854, 
he was president of the European Mission and oversaw the publication of the 
Millennial Star. Jenson, Latter-day Saint Biographical Encyclopedia, 1:718–19, 4:318.

32. The Iberia was built in England in 1835 and had some of the best pas-
senger accommodations of the period. It had three masts and was owned by the 
P. & O. Line. Sonne, Ships, Saints, and Mariners, 102.

33. Nathan Porter had this to say about their time in Southampton: “On 
the 11th (February 1853) we took the cars for South Hampton, the point of our 
embarkation for Gibraltar. Here we met with Elder James Wille, who also came 
with us across not only the plains but the sea also. He was now President over 
the Southampton Conference. We stopped in this conference until the 29th 
[sic] (February 1853), visiting the branches of the saints who contributed in fur-
nishing means for our passage. Having now sufficient means we engaged pas-
sage on the steam Packet Iberia.” Porter, “Record of Nathan Tanner Porter,” 57.
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enjoyed many excellent and profitable meetings with the many churches 
in England, holding before them the new revelation on the eternity of 
marriage.34

On the morning of March 3rd we cast anchor in Vigo Bay, Spain, 
after sailing 663 miles over the rough Bay of Biscay. This is a lovely bay, 
abounding with a variety of fish. Its borders abound with oranges, figs, 
grapes and nuts. Sixty-eight miles more and we pass Oporto, on the 
coast of Portugal. The next city was Lisbon, the capital of Portugal. It lies 
two miles up the Tagus River, and is very strongly fortified. The queen’s 
palace and garden are worthy of attention; the remainder of the city is 
very filthy. On March 6th we left Lisbon and cast anchor in Cadiz Bay, 
Spain. We were now about 9,000 miles from our Utah home.

Letter 9: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, June 15, 188535

On the morning of March 8th, 1853, we were anchored under Gibraltar 
and heard the morning gun fired as the signal for opening the gates of 
the fortress, raising the drawbridges, lowering rope ladders and opening 
up the garrison generally.

The picturesqueness of the rock and garrison from the waters of the 
bay, especially when illuminated, on a dark night was a grand scene. 
The houses of both the north and south towns are terraced one above 
the other on the rock.36

34. “While waiting for passage, we visited Portsmouth Dockyard and the 
Isle of Wight, and went on board the Duke of Wellington, a three decker of 
131 guns, many of which were very heavy. This splendid ship is propelled by 
steam and sail, and has been the flag ship of the British fleet in the recent war 
with Russia. While on the Isle of Wight we were invited to preach in a sectarian 
chapel; the people were much taken up with our doctrine, not knowing that 
we were Mormon elders.” Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 1,” 338–39.

35. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter IX, Missionary Experience,” Juve-
nile Instructor 20 (June 15, 1885): 191. Compare to Edward Stevenson, “Gibralter 
Mission, Letter No. 6,” Deseret News, April 16, 1856, 42; and “Gibraltar Mission,” 
Millennial Star 15 (April 23, 1853): 266–67.

36. “The morning was fair and beautiful. My feelings were peculiar as I 
gazed upon the stupendous rock of Gibralter rising from the Mediterranean 
Sea to the height of 1400 feet. And was it strange to have those feelings, as it was 
not only the land of my birth, but the field of my future labors in the ministry?” 
Edward Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 2,” Deseret News, January 23, 
1856, 366.

14

BYU Studies Quarterly, Vol. 55, Iss. 1 [2016], Art. 8

https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/byusq/vol55/iss1/8



108	 v  BYU Studies Quarterly

Small crafts soon placed us and our luggage on the rock. The guard 
was ordered to allow no one to pass the portals without proper creden-
tials. One gentleman who was not prepared for this was turned away. 
My American passport37 did not reach me at Liverpool as expected, 
and President Richards failed to influence the American consul and 
minister at London to supply the deficiency, and I was therefore in dan-
ger of being turned away. But strange to say, myself and companion 
passed into the garrison unchallenged, which afterwards surprised the 
officers.38

While passing along the narrow streets and sidewalks only paved 
with cobble stone, but scrupulously clean, and on seeing so many people 
of different nationalities, there being twelve different languages spo-
ken by the people living here, we began to realize with what kind of a 
spirit we had to contend, and it produced peculiar emotions best known 
to those who feel the worth of souls and are placed in a strange land 
thousands of miles from home. It truly made us feel to put our trust in 
the Lord.

After getting something to eat we walked up to the summit of the 
rock and erected an altar of loose stone and dedicated ourselves and 

37. In the nineteenth century, passports were not as reliable as they are 
today, and government officials would often permit or forbid people based on 
subjective judgments, such as class distinctions. At this time, the population 
of Gibraltar was rapidly increasing, and the area’s officials tried to confront 
the problem by limiting the number of foreigners who visited or lived there. 
Craig Robertson, The Passport in America: The History of a Document (New 
York: Oxford University Press, 2010), 15; Stephen Constantine, Community and 
Identity: The Making of Modern Gibraltar since 1704 (Manchester: Manchester 
University Press, 2009), 93–131.

38. While on the ship Iberia, Elders Stevenson and Porter befriended a 
Mr. Willis, a resident of Gibraltar. Porter had this to say about how they got into 
Gibraltar without identification: “We disembarked with our friend Mr.  Wil-
lis, he having ordered a conveyance to take him to his residence. He invited 
us to put our luggage in with his and accompany him to his home. We gladly 
accepted the invitation, and thus made our way into the garrison with our 
friend as a guide, which deluded the guards and sentinel at the gate from rec-
ognizing us as strangers from any foreign land or clime. So we were permitted 
to enter through the gate without any questions being asked as to our nativity, 
who we were or from whence we came, and so we were not under the necessity 
of obtaining a pass, which is required of all foreigners who wish admittance 
into the Fortress.” Porter, “Record of Nathan Tanner Porter,” 59–60.
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the mission unto the Lord, and we were comforted.39 The scenery from 
this spot was sublime. Spain lies to the north; Morocco on the coast of 
Africa, fifteen miles to the south; the Mediterranean on the east, and the 
straits and bay on the west. It was dusk when we wound our way down 
the rock to the town and secured lodgings at the house of a Spanish lady 
whose husband was a convict keeper.

On the Sabbath we visited the Methodist40 church and were intro-
duced to Rev. Mr. George Alton.41 Subsequently we made an effort to 

39. Climbing mountains and dedicating the land for the preaching of the 
gospel was a common occurrence at the time. In September 1850, Lorenzo 
Snow and his companions climbed a mountain in Italy and there offered a 
prayer dedicating the land to the preaching of the gospel. In December 1850, 
the missionaries in Hawaii climbed a mountain near King’s Falls, built a three-
foot altar, and knelt in prayer to dedicate the land. Jesse Haven and his compan-
ions, who had been called on missions at the same 1852 meeting as Stevenson, 
climbed the mount called Lion’s Head in South Africa in April 1853 to dedicate 
the area to receive their message; Elder Leonard I. Smith wanted to call the 
peak Mountain Brigham, Heber, and Willard for the First Presidency. James A. 
Toronto, “Italy,” in Encyclopedia of Latter-day Saint History, 556–58; R. Lanier 
Britsch, Moramona: The Mormons in Hawaii (Laie, Hi.: Institute for Polynesian 
Studies, 1989), 4–5; Farrell Ray Monson, “History of the South African Mission 
of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, 1853–1970” (master’s thesis, 
Brigham Young University, 1971), 18–19.

40. Roman Catholicism eventually overtook Islam as the dominant religion 
of Gibraltar. Methodism, an eighteenth-century break-off from the Church of 
England, was planted in Gibraltar in 1769, when it was established by British 
soldiers. Missionaries and preachers for the movement were continually sent to 
the area in the ensuing years. A formal society was established on the Rock by the 
early 1800s, and the first official chapel was completed in 1810. Methodist schools 
were established in the 1830s, and many families, even non-Methodists, began 
sending their children to those schools, an action that concerned the Roman 
Catholic priests. The Methodist missionaries regarded these schools as an essen-
tial aspect of converting people, but most students remained or became Catholics. 
Methodism struggled against the Church of England, and missionaries to Spain 
fought against Catholicism, but Methodism retained a presence. Susan Irene 
Jackson, “Methodism in Gibraltar and Its Mission in Spain, 1769–1842” (PhD 
diss., University of Durham, 2000).

41. Reverend George Alton arrived in Gibraltar in 1847. In addition to oversee-
ing his Methodist religion in Gibraltar, he also attempted to distribute tracts and 
Bibles in heavily Catholic Spain. By 1854, he was in charge of all Methodist work 
in Gibraltar and was able to negotiate the Methodist Church through clashes with 
the Anglican Church. In 1855, he relocated to Madrid to supervise the printing 
of Bibles but still oversaw Methodism in Gibraltar. He left Spain in 1856 because 
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obtain the chapel for the purpose of holding meeting, but our request 
was denied. My father helped to build this chapel and myself and two 
sisters and a brother were baptized therein.42

While looking for a hall in which to hold meetings, we were informed 
that a permit from the governor was necessary before either an indoor 
or outdoor meeting was held. On the 14th, we therefore wrote to this 
individual and solicited the privilege, which was given other ministers 
to hold religious services. We were referred to Sir George Aderly, colo-
nial secretary.43 With this person we had three interviews. While he was 
looking over Governor B[righam]. Young’s letter of commendation, he 
said he had read of Brigham Young and his thirty wives.44 During our 
last interview we were informed by him that we would have to appear 
before Stewart Henry Paget,45 police magistrate, and prove our right to 

of social upheaval there and went back to England in 1858, but he returned to 
Gibraltar in 1862. Spain was still too intolerant of Protestants, so he spent most of 
his time in Gibraltar. During his second term in Gibraltar, he helped provide the 
community with clean water, and he thus helped diminish persecution against 
Methodism. Jackson, “Methodism in Gibraltar,” 231–42.

42. “After meeting, being introduced to Mr. George Alton, Methodist mis-
sionary to this place, we desired the privilege to preach to the people from his 
pulpit, at some convenient time. After many equivocations and apologies, we 
got a positive denial in as polite a manner as his genteel manners could admit, 
although my father had been a leading member of this society, and myself and 
others of the family had been baptized.” Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter 
No. 6,” 42. Mormon missionaries often relied on the hospitality of other Chris-
tian clergy members for places of preaching and worship.

43. Sir George Adderley was a British colonial secretary in Gibraltar.
44. Although Mormon polygamy was not publicly announced until 1852, 

rumors of the practice had been circulating much earlier. In 1851, federally 
appointed officials to Utah Territory had encountered polygamy and published 
their grievances with the practice. Howard Stansbury and John Gunnison, who 
had been appointed to make a topographic survey of Utah, also published 
their observations on polygamy in 1852, but their report was much more posi-
tive than that of the officials. These reports gained significant attention in the 
public press. David J. Whittaker, “Early Mormon Pamphleteering” (PhD diss., 
Brigham Young University, 1982; reprinted Provo, Utah: BYU Studies, 2003), 
117–20.

45. Stewart Henry Paget came from a noble Welsh family and was appointed 
police magistrate in Gibraltar in March 1840. T. R. Roberts, Eminent Welshmen: 
A Short Biographical Dictionary of Welshmen Who Have Attained Distinction 
from the Earliest Times to the Present, vol.  1 (Cardiff: Educational Publishing, 
1908), 393; Bulletins of State Intelligence, &c. (Westminster: F. Watts, 1840), 127.
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remain on the rock. And he expressed surprise at our being able to pass 
the sentinels unchallenged, etc.46

We obtained from Mr. [Horatio J.] Sprague,47 American consul, a 
permit to visit on the rock for fifteen days in favor of Elder Porter,48 and 
I had a certificate of birth and baptism from the Methodist mission. But 
Mr. Alton was very reluctant to give a certificate to me now that I had 
become a “Mormon.” I had quite a long dispute with him on the prin-
ciples of the gospel.

We then went to the court room and the magistrate, after looking at 
my certificate, said, “You will be allowed, as native born to remain on 
the rock, but if caught preaching will be made a prisoner immediately. 
And you, Mr. Porter, by this permit will be allowed to remain fifteen 
days; your permit will not be renewed, and if you preach you will be cast 

46. “Called at two o’clock at secretary’s office, where I was closely ques-
tioned. He wished to know if I was a Wesleyan minister or Church of England, 
&c. My reply was, that as I saw all religions tolerated, I did not expect to be 
questioned in this free country as to my religion. But I was neither ashamed of 
my religion, nor its name. I stated I was a minister of the Church of Jesus Christ 
of Latter Day Saints. This, he said, was new to him; upon which I showed him 
my papers, bearing Governor Young’s name, with the territorial seal affixed; 
when I received considerable abuse, saying I did not come out in true colors, 
that Mormons was our true name; he had read about Mormons and Brigham 
Young and his thirty wives, &c. I then referred him to our true name on my 
papers, stating we were called by our enemies vulgarly Mormons, and also we 
were misrepresented by newspaper reports; but I found reason had but little 
impression.” Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 6,” Deseret News, 42.

47. Horatio J. Sprague was born in Gibraltar in 1823, and his father, Horatio 
Sprague, became the American consul there in 1832. Horatio J. became the 
consul in 1848, after his father’s death. He served in that position until he died 
in 1901. “Oldest Consul Is Dead,” New York Times, July 19, 1901.

48. Laws were enacted in Gibraltar to combat the rising population, and 
even people visiting temporarily needed permits. Constantine, Community 
and Identity, 99.

Nathan Porter said the following about being allowed to stay: “In the mean 
time we were put under rigid examination as to our nationality, and as to how 
I, claiming to be a foreigner, came into the garrison without a pass. I explained 
that I was not so instructed nor so requested by the officer at the gate. That 
ended any further inquiry on that point. He said I would not be allowed to 
remain in the garrison without a permit. Brother Stevenson claimed to be 
citizen by birth, as he was born on the Rock. This he sustained by producing 
the certificate of his christening, obtained from the Methodist Church Record. 
I applied and obtained a permit to remain in the garrison fifteen days, not to be 
renewed was inserted.” Porter, “Record of Nathan Tanner Porter,” 60.
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outside our gates.” We left some tracts in the police office and retired to 
our place of prayer on the top of the rock and offered our complaints 
to the Lord.49

We put out two hundred tracts in various parts of the garrison, and 
privately taught the people.

Letter 10: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, July 1, 188550

The morning following our interview with the magistrate we took a walk 
out into Spain. We found the soil and climate producing oranges, figs, 
pomegranates, lemons, limes and a great variety of wild flowers; but the 
indolent Spaniards left nature to do most of the work. Many of them 
were living in huts similar to Indian wickeups. We could not but think 
that if Utah were favored with so good a climate and rich soil the huts 
would soon be supplanted by neat cottages and vineyards, and the land 
made almost like a paradise.

On our return to the lines we were told to call at the magistrate’s 
office. We did so and were informed that the governor had given our let-
ter to him (the magistrate) and that we need expect no aid in spreading 

“Mormonism” in that stronghold. We were warned to be careful and look 
out what we were about.51

We again called on the American consul, claiming protection for Elder 
Porter, whose permit was about to expire. He promised to see the magis-
trate and do all he could for him. On April 1st we called on the American 
consul, who had just returned from the police station, holding a card in 
his hand on which were printed our articles of faith. He said, holding up 
the card and speaking to Elder Porter, “This is the only cause against you, 

49. “We then proceeded up to the summit of the rock, to our private retreat, 
which was named Mount Edward, and entered our complaints to a much higher 
court, and asked the Lord not to do as vile man had done to reject us, but to 
guide us by the light of his Spirit. After being thus refreshed, we returned to our 
lonely room, as we had hired a small room for two dollars a month.” Stevenson, 

“Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 6,” 42. 
50. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter X, Missionary Experience,” Juve-

nile Instructor 20 (July 1, 1885): 196. Compare to Edward Stevenson, “Gibralter 
Mission, Letter No. 7,” Deseret News, April 30, 1856, 63.

51. “On our return I was invited to call at the police office, as the magistrate 
wished to see me; a few minutes after we passed the last sentry, a messenger left 
word for us. This plainly shows our movements are closely watched and known, 
for no one knew where we were going, except ourselves.” Stevenson, “Gibralter 
Mission, Letter No. 7,” 63.
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and if Stevenson does not look out he will have to share the same fate as 
you, although he is a native. Your religion is not wanted here. You have 
already created jealousy in the churches.”52 He then advised us both to 
leave the garrison.53

Elder Porter’s permit being now exhausted a passage was secured for 
him on a steam packet;54 but, according to a dream that we had, I was 

52. Elder Porter recorded this dialogue with the consul: “As I entered the 
Consul’s office he arose from his seat and saying, ‘Well, I was just going to see 
the Chief Magistrate. Please sit down. I will be back in a few minutes.’ He left 
having but a few yards to go. He soon returned, and on entering the door held 
up a pamphlet in his hand saying, ‘This is the reason you are not permitted to 
stay. You have been distributing tracts, and thus caused disturbance among the 
churches.’

“‘Ah, indeed’ says I, ‘I was not aware that there was a law prohibiting the 
distribution of religious tracts and references to the Holy Scriptures. Please, is 
there such law?’

“His countenance dropped with the reply, ‘No, not that I am aware of.’
“‘And is there any precedent to this charge? Has any person or persons been 

prohibited from such distribution?’
“‘No sir, not that I am aware of.’
“‘Then sir, why is this brought against me as a charge?’ I looked him straight 

in the eyes.
“He replied, ‘You know what it is.’
“‘Yes’ says I, ‘you mean to say it is religious prejudice.’
“‘Yes’ says he, ‘that is it. The governor consults the ministers and favors them 

against any thing prejudicial to their welfare religiously.’” Porter, “Record of 
Nathan Tanner Porter,” 62–63.

53. “As I was passing the garrison library, also the sappers library [for Brit-
ish engineers], those tracts I had left was handed me, saying the clergymen 
had decided they were a nuisance to the library, and would not be allowed to 
remain. Many who were formerly friends began to look suspiciously upon us, 
and treat us with disdain, saying we were Mormons and deceived, but always 
failed to show us wherein, only the learned ministers said we were wrong, and 
the old apostolic gospel was no longer needed.” Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, 
Letter No. 7,” 63.

54. Nathan Porter recorded his final moments in Gibraltar: “Brother Ste-
venson accompanied me to the side of the steamer where we shook the part-
ing hand under circumstances to us very trying. We commended each other 
to God, trusting that in his providence we would meet again in due time. I 
watched his return to the shore to enter again that forbidding Fortress, whose 
rulers had rejected us and forbid our testimony being sounded in her halls or 
on the corners of her streets. This was the 1st day of April 1853. They doubt-
less thought we were both leaving their quarters, but were April Fooled when 
they saw him again within the walls.” The Mormon elders seemed to relish the 
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to remain and establish the gospel.55 I immediately went to our place of 
prayer on the mountain, and while I gazed on my only friend steaming 
out of the bay up the straits I had rather strange feelings.56

Previous to leaving England I was pointed out in a meeting as having 
been seen in a vision doing a good work in Gibraltar, but was told that 
I would meet heavy opposition in my labors. I was seen to be baptizing 
some persons, and heavenly messengers were seen to deliver me from 
the hands of the wicked.

A Mr. Elliot, who had been reading the Book of Mormon and was 
inclined to believe my testimony, became prejudiced by the ministers 
and turned me away from his door. Shortly afterwards he fell twenty 
feet, broke his leg and otherwise injured his body, which kept him in 
bed for forty days.

I visited the Jewish synagogue one day in company with a Mr. Delemar, 
a learned Jew who spoke six la[n]guages. He instructed me to wear my 
hat in the meeting as it was customary with them so to do. The pulpit 
was in the center. The ark, in one end of the building, being opened the 
parchment was taken out. It was rolled on two sticks with bells on the top 
of them. It was passed around the synagogue and kissed by the worship-
ers, while a continuous chanting was being kept up by the congregation. 
A portion was read from the pulpit, contributions were received and then 
the rolls were returned to the ark, each person bowing in that direction. 
Meeting was then dismissed.

opportunity to deceive the local authorities, given how they had both been 
treated and one expelled from the British colony. Elder Porter then labored as 
a missionary in England from 1853 to 1856. Porter, “Record of Nathan Tanner 
Porter,” 63–67.

55. “Finding no other resort but the fulfillment of the manifestations we 
previously had, which was—Elder Porter would have to go, and I remain alone 
to establish the work we came to perform, I found a passage home to England 
for Elder Porter, by paying 20  dollars, which had been previously given me, 
and I much required to sustain myself.” Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter 
No. 7,” 63.

56. “After taking the parting hand of my only friend on the rock, I retired to 
Mount Edward to our secret closet, where I saw the last of the steamer bearing 
my partner away, being troubled concerning his comfort, as he only had a deck 
passage; but I afterwards learned that the Lord opened the hearts of the officers, 
who gave him second cabin fare. Truly peculiar were my feelings while I gazed 
upon the scenes below—the various places of worship, from the Mahomedan 
and Jew to the various Protestants, not omitting the old mother of all (Catho-
lics).” Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 7,” 63.
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On the 4th of May I visited the steam packet that brought me to the 
place, left a Book of Mormon and other reading matter with the clerk 
and got my mail. As it was raining I sat, by permission, under the porch 
of a guard house, reading the Millennial Star. Several persons became 
interested in me and asked questions about my belief. Soon an officer 
stepped up and inquired if I was a Methodist; but as soon as he learned 
that I was a Latter-day Saint he ordered me put under guard, saying that 
my religion was one that could not be tolerated in that place. For the first 
time in my life I was marched into the guard house a prisoner. I there 
began preaching to the guard, who listened attentively to what I had 
to say. After some few inquiries concerning what I had been doing in 
the fortress I was released, and I subsequently sold some books to one 
of the guard who arrested me, but whose sympathies were aroused in 
my behalf.

On the 24th of May, the queen’s birth-day, there was a grand celebra-
tion. The soldiers were marched to the north front, outside of the gates 
of the fortress. After considerable exercising of the soldiers the firing of 
cannon commenced from the top of the rock, 1,400 feet high, after which 
the galleries opened fire about half-way down the rock. Singular, indeed, 
was it to see fire and smoke gushing out of the perpendicular rock. The 
shipping in the bay was beautifully decorated with the flags of all nations.

June the 28th was a happy day for me, for at 4 o’clock, a. m., just 
after gun fire, as per previous arrangement, I met John McCall, a dock-
yard policeman, and Thomas Miller, a gunner and driver of the royal 
artillery,57 at the water’s edge, we having descended a rope ladder to the 
shore, and baptized them.58 These were the first fruits of my labors after 
being on the rock three months and twenty days.

57. Stevenson’s journal identifies John McCall as “Elexander” McCall, a native 
of Scotland. Thomas Miller was born in February 1817 in county Donegal, Ireland. 
John McCall often did not attend Latter-day Saint meetings because his employer 
threatened to fire him if he did so, but he still believed the gospel. Stevenson, 
Diary, March 26, 1854, and table after the March 29, 1854, entry. “These being the 
first baptized on the rock, after nearly four months’ toil, it gave me much joy to 
open the first furrow in this land of opposition, which has cost me much ardu-
ous toil and abuse. In the evening I held a private meeting, and confirmed those 
baptized at brother Miller’s house; his wife and three sons were quite believing.” 
Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 7,” 63.

58. “It is impossible to get to the water in the night, and with difficulty even 
in the day, where I baptized them privately, but came so near being discovered, 
that while I stood in the water I saw the guard’s hat.” Stevenson, “Gibralter Mis-
sion, Letter No. 7,” 63.
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The Lord only knows the many privations and sacrifices I endured 
and the lonely hours I spent, living many weeks on the value of three to 
five cents per day.

Letter 11: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, July 15, 188559

In the evening of the 28th of June we held a private meeting at the house 
of Brother Miller. We confirmed the two persons just baptized, and sub-
sequently baptized and blessed some children of this same family.

Soon after this, while distributing tracts, I offered one to the attor-
ney-general and received abuse in return. I also sent a second tract 
to Rev. Mr. Hambelton, by the hand of his servant. The minister soon 
returned it in person, throwing it abruptly at me, saying, “We belong to 
the established church and have no use for your tracts.”

I soon found that the priests not only ruled the people but influ-
enced the governor and chief authorities; and in consequence of this 
influence a card was placed on the door of the barracks which read as 
follows: “An individual named Stevenson, a Mormonite preacher, is not 
allowed in the barracks.” This was shown to me upon one occasion as 
I was being marched out of the barracks, although the guard expressed 
sympathy for me and considered this act as base persecution.

With all this, however, they were not satisfied, but got up the follow-
ing summons, which was handed me by one of the police:

“City Garrison and Territory of Gibraltar.
To Edward Stevenson, of Gibraltar:

You are hereby required to personally appear before me, Stewart 
Henry Paget, or any other of her majesty’s justices of the peace, in and 
for the said city garrison and territory, at the police office, on the 30th 
day of September, 1853, at the hour of eleven in the forenoon of the 
same day, to answer to the complaint of James McPherson, charging 
that you have used words profanedly, scoffing the holy scriptures, and 
exposing part of them to contempt and ridicule. Dated this 29th day of 
September, 1853.”

59. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter XI, Missionary Experience,” Juve-
nile Instructor 20 (July 15, 1885): 215. Compare to Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, 
Letter No. 7,” 63; Edward Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 8,” Deseret 
News, May 28, 1856, 93; “Foreign Intelligence,” Millennial Star 15 (December 24, 
1853): 841–42; “The Gibraltar Mission,” Millennial Star 16 (March 18, 1854): 
174–75.
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I was afterwards informed that the complainant was expecting a 
handsome reward if he got me into trouble. On one occasion I over-
heard the magistrate who issued the summons say to some ladies that 
he hoped soon to see me in the stocks.60

On the 30th I repaired to the police office. Just before going into 
court I had the pleasure of bearing my testimony to about fifteen per-
sons, until prohibited by the police. I soon faced my plaintiff, and one 
good look in his face unnerved him. The following colloquy occurred 
in the court room:

“Do you know the defendant?”
“Yes, sir.”
“When was your first acquaintance with him?”
“Soon after he came here.”
“What, did he then give you those books?” (holding up some books 

I had sold the plaintiff and for which he failed to pay me.) “Did he wish 
you to change your religion?”

“Yes, he said I ought to be baptized.”
“In what way did he want you to be baptized?”
“By immersion all over in the water.”
“Did he speak against the established religion?”
“He said sprinkling little children was not right, as they were not old 

enough to judge for themselves—they were not accountable.”
“Is this all he said?”
“His books say all the churches sprang from the mother of harlots—

the abominable Catholic church.”
“Can you find it?[”]
My books—the Book of Mormon, Voice of Warning61 and some 

tracts—were then opened. I now availed myself of the opportunity of 

60. “Several were paying attention to my teachings, for I had sold about 
40 dollars worth of books, and privately taught a great many, and as some sheep 
were about to be caught, the wolves in sheep’s clothing began to howl.” Steven-
son, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 7,” 63.

61. A Voice of Warning was a missionary tract written in 1837 by Parley P. 
Pratt. It was one of the most influential missionary tracts of the nineteenth 
century and gave a comprehensive overview of Mormon beliefs, including the 
fulfillment of prophecy, the Book of Mormon, and the Resurrection. David 
Rolph Seely, “Voice of Warning,” in Encyclopedia of Latter-day Saint History, 
1301; Parley P. Pratt, A Voice of Warning and Instruction to All People, Contain-
ing a Declaration of the Faith and Doctrine of the Church of the Latter Day Saints, 
Commonly Called Mormons (New York: W. Sandford, 1837).
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opening my Bible at the 17th chapter of Revelation, where it speaks of 
the mother of harlots. After the judge looked over the text for a short 
time he remarked, “Oh, this is the Bible.”

“Yes, sir,” I answered, “all our quotations are from the Bible.”
Many officers and spectators began to think that this was a singular 

way of scoffing at the holy scriptures. The questioning of the plaintiff 
then continued:

“Did he perform baptism on you?”
“No, but he did on a dockyard policeman and a gunner and driver of 

the royal artillery.”
I was still looking at my Bible, when I was asked, “Do you hear, sir?”

“Yes, sir, all that is said,” I replied.
It was then stated that I ought to give bonds to not speak to the 

military at all, and a bond with penalty was prepared. I was not allowed 
a defense, neither did they examine other witnesses who had been sub-
pœnaed, as they found their evidence would be in my favor. On my 
refusal to sign a bond I was taken by the police as a prisoner into the 
prison room. Soon afterwards the officer came into the room and com-
promised the bonding by running his pen through some of the lines, 
rendering it as useless as a blank piece of paper. So to accommodate 
them I signed it and went on my way.62 I soon baptized several persons, 
among whom was a woman who had held me on her knee when I was a 
child.63 I organized a branch of the Church.

62. “I left my testimony of the gospel with them, also the Book of Mormon, 
Voice of Warning, and my official documents. The clerk soon followed and 
was willing to modify the bond, so that it did not materially interfere with 
my rights; when I signed it, and was set at liberty with a threat that I probably 
would be indicted for baptizing persons by immersion.

“Corporal McDonald, who I have previously mentioned received a sum-
mons to appear as a witness against me, was at court, but was not called upon 
as he previously had to appear at his orderly room, where it was ascertained his 
testimony would be in my favor. This man I soon after baptized. Distributed 
some tracts and returned to my quiet home, and held a private meeting in the 
evening, where I sold some books.

“This difficulty, although designed for evil, resulted in raising friends.” Ste-
venson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 8,” 93.

63. An unpublished autobiography by Stevenson identifies a Mrs. Norton 
as the woman who “dandled me on her knee.” The name “Norton” is not in 
the list of members of the Gibraltar branch that Stevenson put in his journal, 
so either he did not record her baptism, or else there was a scribal error and 
Norton was not her actual name. Stevenson, “Life of Edward Stevenson,” 5; 
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Letter 12: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, August 1, 188564

Soon after my arrival in Gibraltar, a Mr. Smith invited me to take dinner 
with him, at which time he wept with joy for the pleasure it gave him, 
to eat with a son of one with whom he had enjoyed himself many times 
over twenty-six years before, in the good, old Methodist church. “Why,” 
said he, “your father helped build our good, old church; and used to 
play the bass viol in the choir, too. Yes, and he sold his property to me 
for one hundred dollars less than its real value. Can it be possible that 
you, a minister so well-versed in the good old Bible, the blessed Bible, 
have come back to us all the way from the land of America—a son of 
my good old Christian friend, Joseph Stephenson! It seems like a dream. 
You will doubtless preach for us in the church your good, old Christian 
father helped to build.”

 “Yes, Father Smith,” I replied, “I am truly his son, and have come 
from Utah—over 8,000 miles away from my home, about one-third 
of the way around this world we now occupy. I have left my dear fam-
ily, and have come as a true minister of the everlasting gospel of Jesus, 
as did His ancient disciples of old—without purse or scrip.65 And I 
assure you Father Smith, it would afford me the greatest pleasure to 
have the privilege of speaking to my friends in the meeting house where 
memories arise like green spots in a desert, afresh in my memory, of the 
good things and favorable impressions made on my mind at the Sabbath 
schools I used to attend twenty-six years ago. I can well remember the 
time, although only seven years old, when my mother used to put on my 
white pinafore, and nicely blackened shoes, and my father bowed down 
and prayed to the Lord in that house he sold you. I feel to bless them for 

Edward Stevenson, “The Life and History of Elder Edward Stevenson,” 2, MS 
1054, Church History Library.

64. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter XII, Missionary Experience,” 
Juvenile Instructor 20 (August 1, 1885): 229. Compare to Edward Stevenson, 

“Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 9,” Deseret News, June 18, 1856, 118; and Edward 
Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 10,” Deseret News, July 23, 1856, 155.

65. Following Jesus’s New Testament injunction to preach without purse or 
scrip, Mormon missionaries in the nineteenth century were instructed to travel 
without money. They relied on the generosity of local Saints and strangers for 
their meals and lodging. This practice required great faith, both on the part of 
the missionaries and on those who helped them. This method of preaching was 
abandoned with changing times. Richard L. Jensen, “Without Purse or Scrip? 
Financing Latter-day Saint Missionary Work in Europe in the Nineteenth Cen-
tury,” Journal of Mormon History 12 (1985): 3–14.
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setting my feet in my youthful days in a Christian life and for the good 
that I received in this Sabbath school. But my father now sleeps with 
those who have passed behind the vail, he died when I was but eleven 
years of age.

“At the age of thirteen, I heard Joseph Smith, the Prophet, preach by 
the power of the Holy Ghost. He related the heavenly vision with which 
he was favored;66 I had a witness of the truth that he had told, although 
I was not baptized until some time later.

“I will now relate to you a vision I had. I saw in a very nice, green spot 
every one who had joined this new Church. They were all dressed in 
white robes. A messenger, and the only stranger to me, stood by my side. 
I was the only one who was without the snow-white robe, and this very 
much amazed me. I asked why this was so, he replied, ‘Look! do you see 
one here who has not been baptized or come in at the door?’

“But I believe as well as do those.”
“‘You have not yet come in at the door!’”
“This was sufficient for me. I was soon baptized, and was made to 

rejoice with a testimony of the message which has brought me to this 
far-off land.

“Many old friends have received and treated me courteously, but the 
minister not only closed the church doors against me, but himself and 
some of his co-religionists began to circulate many falsehoods against 
the truth of the gospel, and the love of many waxed cold.”

I thus bore my testimony to the truth, but my father’s good old friend 
closed his house against me and turned as cool as he was warm at first. 
He became abusive to the servants of God. I told him the consequence 
of his rejecting the light that he had already acknowledged, and for turn-
ing me—a servant of God, from his door, and that the hand of the Lord 
would speedily follow him to his sorrow.

His wife was reading the Book of Mormon privately, and was with 
some of the children believing. It was but a short time before Father 
Smith was stricken and was confined not only to his house, but to his 
bed. Some time after his wife called my attention to his condition and 
humiliation. He was not expected to live. Soon after he desired to see me 

66. Edward Stevenson heard Joseph Smith speak in Pontiac, Michigan, in 
1834. “The Prophet testified with great power concerning the visit of the Father 
and the Son, and the conversation he had with them.” Edward Stevenson, Remi-
niscences of Joseph, the Prophet, and the Coming Forth of the Book of Mormon 
(Salt Lake City: By the author, 1893), 4.
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and said if the Lord would only spare his life, he would serve Him better 
than he ever had done.

I told him that the Lord brought down and raised up; that if he 
desired to recover and serve Him faithfully, he should get well and the 
Lord would raise him up to better health. In a few days I was invited to 
take dinner with him and pray with the family. He was up and around 
reading, and a very great change had come to him and his house. He was, 
however, too good to endure, and he shortly burned up some copies of 
the Church paper and pamphlets, and forbade me to enter his house 
again. I of course left my testimony, telling him the consequences of his 
actions. I told him it would now be worse than ever with him. The poor 
man was very soon again confined to his bed, but not long this time, for 
he soon died. His family decided to go to England where they said they 
intended to obey the gospel.

On the 23rd of January, 1854, I had the pleasure of organizing a 
branch of the Church consisting of ten members, ordaining one Elder 
and one Priest. We partook of the sacrament and had a joyful time.67 
The branch was named Rock Port Branch of the Church of Jesus Christ 
of Latter-day Saints.68

Letter 13: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, August 15, 188569

There was a well-to[-]do free citizen on the rock, a former acquaintance 
of my childhood, and a great friend of my father when he lived on the 
stronghold of Gibraltar, whose name was Gilchrist. He was a Method-
ist, and I had taken considerable pains to inform him concerning our 

67. John McLean was ordained an elder, and Thomas Forbes was ordained a 
priest. Stevenson, “Gibralter Mission, Letter No. 10,” 155; Stevenson, Diary, table 
after the March 29, 1854, entry.

68. See confirmation of this branch in Ralph L. Cottrell Jr., “A History of the 
Discontinued Mediterranean Missions of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-
day Saints” (master’s thesis, Brigham Young University, 1963), 62–63; see also, 
for example, Stevenson, Diary, January 29, 1854.

During the nineteenth century, assigned elders in the far-flung corners of 
the world were empowered to organize or “plant” branch units within their geo-
graphic stewardships by virtue of their priesthood authority with little Church 
headquarters oversight. Stevenson informed the president of the overarching 
European Mission of his activities leading the Rock Port Branch, including 
officiating in priesthood ordinances and ministering to its members.

69. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter XIII, Missionary Experience,” 
Juvenile Instructor 20 (August 15, 1885): 252.
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doctrines and had furnished him with a Book of Mormon, Voice of 
Warning and other books and tracts. He became convinced that sprin-
kling children was only man’s theory and not consistent with Bible doc-
trine, as Jesus and the disciples taught the people to first believe and 
repent and then be baptized, not to be baptized and afterwards believe 
and repent. Mr. Gilchrist acknowledged that I taught the truth, yet he 
turned me away from his house and was, therefore, more culpable.

At his own request I went to his house one day and taught him for 
two hours, the principles of the gospel. During this time he was called 
twice to dinner, but he did not go himself, nor did he ask me to partake 
of a meal, although he was well aware of the meagre diet to which I was 
compelled to accustom myself.

It appeared to me that he was convinced of the truth of the message 
that I bore, but was not sufficiently honest to receive it. Finally, as I was 
leaving him, he offered me fifty cents, saying at the same time that it 
was not to help me in spreading the imposture, but for my personal use. 
I told him that I was preaching without purse or scrip, but was unwill-
ing to receive gifts only in the name of a disciple. I returned not again 
to that house.

At the same time that I was teaching Mr. Gilchrist I was laboring 
with a soldier named Thomas McDonald, and though he received no 
more instruction than the former, he accepted the truth and was bap-
tized.70 One night, he said, after he had retired to rest, he had a dream 
and a messenger whose hair was nearly white, appeared to him. This 
searcher after truth then asked his visitor about the Book of Mormon, 
as they had been talking about that record. It was opened and the mes-
senger simply said, “How plain it is, is it not?”

In the dream he also saw me tired and weary, but hard at work dig-
ging the ground. He touched me and asked what I was doing, when I 
replied that I intended to sow seed and if possible reap a harvest of souls.

This man was the means of bringing several other soldiers of his regi-
ment into the Church.

There was a painful incident came under my observation about this 
time that I will here just mention: One day I had as usual a parcel of 
books in my arm and was visiting and teaching wherever I could meet 
anyone who would listen to my remarks. I called at a shoe shop in the 
southern part of the rock where I found six men engaged at shoe making. 

70. Thomas McDonald, born in Scotland in 1828, was baptized Novem-
ber 19, 1853. Stevenson, Diary, table after the March 29, 1854, entry. 
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After telling them the object of my visit and giving them some tracts I 
opened the book of Doctrine and Covenants where it speaks of the mar-
tyrdom of Joseph Smith and his brother Hyrum, and read this aloud to 
the workmen.71 As I finished reading everything was for a moment as 
still as death everyone present having ceased to work. In a moment one of 
the six broke out in an ungovernable rage, saying, “Joe Smith was served 
just right and ought to have been killed long before he was.”

My reasoning with him only served to enrage him more, and his 
closing remark to me was, “Joe Smith ought to have been cut up into 
mince-meat.”

I gathered up my books and said to him that he was guilty of shed-
ding innocent blood inasmuch as he consented to it in his heart, for 
which cause the wrath of God would rest upon him, and he should feel 
His power to the consuming of his body, and that too, in a very short 
time. He would then know that Joseph Smith was a Prophet of God and 
that I was a servant of the Almighty.

On the following day he with the others came to his work as usual, 
but he had not been there long before he began vomiting blood, and 
before he could be carried to the hospital he was dead. Just before dying 
he said to his fellow-workmen, “I wrongfully abused that man yesterday.”

Thus did the judgment of God speedily follow him.

Letter 14: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, September 1, 
188572

Soon after organizing a branch of the Church there was quite an agita-
tion regarding the war in the Crimea, England, France and Turkey were 
allies in a war against Russia,73 or in the words of Daniel the prophet, 
the king of the north, (Russia), was arrayed against the king of the 

71. Doctrine and Covenants 135.
72. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter XIV, Missionary Experience,” Juve-

nile Instructor 20 (September 1, 1885): 262.
73. The Crimean War began in 1853, when Russia tried to take over land 

from the Ottoman Empire, in part so they could have access to the Black Sea. 
The United Kingdom objected to this, so it and France joined Turkey in fighting 
against Russia. Most of the fighting occurred in the Crimean Peninsula, and 
many soldiers died from disease rather than from fighting. In 1856, all countries 
involved were tired of fighting, so they signed the Treaty of Paris, which created 
some compromises, including making the Black Sea a neutral zone. Zachary R. 
Jones, “‘Wars and Rumors of Wars’: United Kingdom Latter-day Saints and 
the Crimean War, 1853–1856,” Mormon Historical Studies 14 (Spring 2013): 30; 
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south, (Turkey).74 All this had a tendency to militate against my labors 
as a missionary in the military garrison of Gibraltar, for the British 
lion’s interests were assailed, and all of its military had war on the brain, 
which generally has far more effect on the human mind than the spirit 
of the gospel of peace.

The elder John McLain,75 Corporal Hays76 and John McDonald,77 
all in the branch just organized, were likely to go on the Mediterranean 
sea to be engaged in the Crimean war, and the Priest, Sergeant Thomas 
Forbes,78 was about to go to Scotland, thus depleting my hard earned 
little branch, which had a tendency to discourage me in my efforts, if 
such is possible to a Latter-day Saint Elder engaged in so great a work as 
saving human souls.

I concluded, however, once more to apply to the governor for liberty 
to open up a public place of worship, and sent him the following letter:

“Gibraltar, April 24th, 1854.
“To his excellency, Sir Robert William Gardiner,79 Governor of Gibraltar:

Harold Temperley, “The Treaty of Paris of 1856 and Its Execution,” Journal of 
Modern History 4 (September 1932): 387–414.

74. Daniel 11 is a prophecy that says that a king from the north and a king 
from the south would fight against each other.

75. John McLean was baptized on January 6, 1854, and became the president 
of the LDS Expeditionary Force Branch in Turkey. His division fought in the 
Battle of Inkerman in November 1854, in which he was wounded by a bayonet. He 
attempted to preach to fellow soldiers in the war and was mainly unsuccessful, but 
there were a few converts. Jones, “‘Wars and Rumors of Wars,’” 32–34; Wilford Hill 
LeCheminant, “‘A Valiant Little Band’: LDS Soldiers in the Crimean War,” Ensign 
11 (January 1981): 20–21; Stevenson, Diary, table after the March 29, 1854, entry. 

76. Corporal Peter Hays, born in Scotland in 1827, was baptized February 
3, 1854. He was part of John McLean’s regiment, and in the Battle of Inkerman, 
he received a wound that required his arm to be amputated above the elbow. 
Jones, “‘Wars and Rumors of Wars,’” 33; LeCheminant, “‘Valiant Little Band,’” 
20; Stevenson, Diary, table after the March 29, 1854, entry.

77. The “John McDonald” mentioned here is probably Thomas McDonald. 
McDonald was hurt three times in one day during the Battle of Inkerman. He 
had artillery shells explode near him on two separate occasions, catapulting 
debris against him, and a bullet hit his hand on another occasion. Jones, “‘Wars 
and Rumors of Wars,’” 33; LeCheminant, “‘Valiant Little Band,’” 20.

78. Thomas Forbes was baptized on November 15, 1853. Stevenson, Diary, 
table after the March 29, 1854, entry. 

79. Sir Robert William Gardiner was born in 1781. He served as Gibraltar’s 
governor from 1848 to 1855, but he had previously been in Gibraltar from 1797 
to 1798 as part of Britain’s Royal Artillery. He died in 1864. James Alex Browne, 
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The undersigned, an inhabitant of Gibraltar most respectfully solic-
its an audience with his excellency, on business of importance. I have 
the honor to be,

“Your most obedient servant,
	 “Edward Stevenson.”

The next day I received the following:
“The Colonial secretary requests that Mr. E. Stevenson will call at his 

office at 12 o’clock to-day.

“Secretary’s Office,
	 “Gibraltar April 25th, 1854.”

I responded to the request and had a favorable reception. The colo-
nial secretary said my case should be duly laid before his excellency, and 
a reply forwarded to my address.

I was visiting at this time a Prussian whom I had been teaching the 
gospel, inducing him to read some of our tracts and then compare our 
doctrines with those taught in the Bible. He was apparently convinced 
of the truth. I also had some Spaniards investigating our doctrines, and 
it was manifest to me that if I could obtain permission to open a public 
place of worship my chances would be increased to spread the gospel 
among the people.

The Methodists had been making an effort to introduce their gospel 
into Spain by opening a school there, but as soon as it was ascertained 
by the inhabitants, who are mostly Catholics, that they were tampering 
with their religion the innovators had to flee by night out of the country.

I received a very pleasing reply to my letter to the governor through 
the colonial secretary, Mr. Aderly [Adderley], and therein consent was 
given me to open a place for public worship. The secretary, however, 
stated that this garrison was a hard place for religious teachers for a 
Catholic once had a cat thrown at him while he was holding service. 
I merely stated that all I expected was the protection of the law.

Subsequently with the assistance of some friends I found a suit-
able place and began to hold meetings. One evening when I had a few 
friends in my private room a policeman came with a message for me to 
appear at the colonial secretary’s office on the following day. My reply 
was that if the secretary had any business with me he would do well to 

England’s Artillerymen. An Historical Narrative of the Services of the Royal Artil-
lery, from the Formation of the Regiment to the Amalgamation of the Royal and 
Indian Artilleries in 1862 (London: Hall, Smart, and Allen, 1865), 69–72.
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officially notify me of it, otherwise, I would not notice their bidding. 
The next day I received from the colonial secretary a very polite invita-
tion to visit him at 2 p. m. the next day on business of importance, and 
to my own interest.

Letter 15: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, September 15, 
188580

On May 1, 1854, my thirty-fourth birthday, Elder John McLean, Broth-
ers Thomas McDonald and Peter Hays, with their regiment, 1,000 rank 
and file, marched on board of one of her majesty’s men-of-war to sail up 
the Mediterranean sea and take part in the Crimea war. In the midst of 
thundering shouts of enthusiasm the gallant ship with her precious bur-
den of souls steamed out of the beautiful bay of Gibraltar to do honor 
to Briton’s flag. A solemn reflection crossed my mind on this occasion 
with a mental question, who of this one thousand will ever return home 
again to fathers, mothers, brothers, sisters or wives?

Many tears were shed over the wounded and slain during this 
cruel war, which lasted about two years.81 My blessings went with the 
brave boys in red, especially the three brethren mentioned. These were 
instructed to remember their prayers as they were in the hands of the 
Lord who could protect them even in the hour of fierce battle, and also to 
use their influence to spread the gospel among their comrades. A subse-
quent letter brought news that Elder McLean had organized a branch of 
the Church in a Turkish burying ground, and while doing so, bottles and 
other missiles were thrown at him and his companions. The branch was 
named the Expeditionary Force Branch of the Church of Jesus Christ of 
Latter-day Saints.82

Frequent letters revealed many of the horrors of warfare, such as being 
compelled to lie in the trenches before Sebastapool, in a mass of filth and 
vermin with no one to prepare them a change of linen. Elder McLean 
stated that he had been in the heavy charges at the battle of Inkerman 

80. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter XV, Missionary Experience,” Juve-
nile Instructor 20 (September 15, 1885): 279.

81. It has been estimated that around 750,000 people died during the Crimean 
War, either from combat or disease. It is unknown how many total Latter-day 
Saints fought in the Crimean War, but John McLean’s Expeditionary Force 
Branch apparently decreased from twenty-three members to twelve or thirteen, 
and others died in other branches. Jones, “‘Wars and Rumors of Wars,’” 30–34.

82. LeCheminant, “‘Valiant Little Band,’” 18–21.
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and Alma.83 So pressed was the charge from both sides that the soldiers 
were crushed together and faced each other with crossed bayonets being 
unable to use them for some time. He, however, came out with only a 
slight bayonet wound in the arm which only kept him from duty five 
days. Brother McDonald was wounded by the bursting of a shell, but with 
his handkerchief bound up his head and continued the encounter until 
another shell burst close by and this time disabled him so that he was 
taken from the field, but soon recovered. Corporal Hays lost his arm, but 
his life was spared; so the lives of all three of the brethren were spared, 
while often the ground was strewn with the dead and dying. Thus, even in 
this war, the hand of the Lord was plainly seen and acknowledged.

Letter 16: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, October 1, 188584

Soon after receiving permission from the governor to open a public 
place of worship, I was called upon at my residence by a policeman, and 
requested to call at the secretary’s office. This I refused to do without 
being notified officially. Soon afterwards I received a polite official notice, 
which I answered on the following day. I was informed by the secretary 
that the governor had reconsidered the matter of my holding meetings 
and had concluded that I should neither preach nor hold meetings. It 
was a time of war, and he would not allow a new religion to be intro-
duced on the rock of Gibraltar; and if an attempt to do so should be made 
I would be taken up by the police.

When I took into consideration that several of the brethren I had 
baptized upon the rock had gone into the Russian war, and that two 
others were about to go to Great Britain and the spirit of war that pre-
vailed in the garrison, I felt impressed to ask the governor for a free 
passage to England, which, through the colonial secretary, was cheer-
fully granted, as I had already learned that the governor had expressed 

83. The Battle of Alma, one of the earliest battles in the Crimean War, 
occurred in September 1854 at the Alma River in southwest Crimea, when 
French and British troops defeated the Russian troops, even though the Rus-
sians had the advantage of a higher elevation. After the Battle of Alma, the 
French and British decided not to attack the weakened city of Sevastopol, 
instead putting it under siege. In November 1854, Russian troops attacked the 
French and British outside of Sevastopol. The Russians had the advantage of fog 
and numbers, but they still lost the battle. Patrick Mercer, Inkerman 1854: The 
Soldiers’ Battle (London: Osprey, 1998).

84. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter [XVI], Missionary Experience,” 
Juvenile Instructor 20 (October 1, 1885): 297.
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himself willing to give me a free passage on one of her majesty’s mail 
packets, in order to get rid of one who had stirred up so much of a reli-
gious excitement.

As I could take my departure at pleasure, the steam packets plying 
twice a week between that point and England, some twelve hundred miles, 
I at once began prep[a]rations to leave the few remaining Saints under the 
care of a proper officer. To my surprise I was again called to the colo-
nial secretary’s office, and after going through the inquisition, because I 
would not compromise principle, my free passage was re[s]cinded, and 
I was left to depend upon the Lord to open up my way. A saying of the 
Savior, while instructing His disciples came into my mind:

“Consider the lilies of the field, how they grow; they toil not, neither 
do they spin; and yet I say unto you, That even Solomon in all his glory 
was not arrayed like one of these. Wherefore, if God so clothe the grass 
of the field, which to-day is, and to-morrow is cast into the oven, shall 
he not much more clothe you, O ye of little faith? Therefore take no 
thought, saying, What shall we eat? or, What shall we drink? or, Where-
withal shall we be clothed? (For after all these things do the Gentiles 
seek): for your heavenly Father knoweth that ye have need of all these 
things. But seek ye first the kingdom of God, and His righteousness; and 
all these things shall be added unto you. Take therefore no thought for 
the morrow: for the morrow shall take thought for the things of itself. 
Sufficient unto the day is the evil thereof.” (Matt. 6[:]28).

I repaired to the open sea, where I had baptized the first members 
of the branch, and there washed my feet and cleansed my garments as 
a witness before God against the cruel authorities of this strong garri-
son; and felt to rejoice that I was counted worthy to be cast out for the 
gospel’s sake.85

85. In the New Testament, Jesus instructed his followers to shake the dust 
off their feet as a testimony against the people or places that rejected them (see, 
for example, Mark 6:11). Some scriptural references also involved the prophets 
shaking their garments for similar purposes (see Acts 18:6 or 2 Ne. 9:44). In 
the nineteenth century, many missionaries washed their feet against the people 
who rejected them, and the rite functioned as a curse. In the twentieth cen-
tury, this practice faded out and was generally discouraged. Samuel R. Weber, 

“‘Shake Off the Dust of Thy Feet’: The Rise and Fall of Mormon Ritual Cursing,” 
Dialogue 46 (Spring 2013): 108–39; Daniel L. Belnap, “‘Those Who Receive You 
Not’: The Rite of Wiping Dust off the Feet,” International Journal of Mormon 
Studies 5 (2012): 81–127.
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You can, perhaps imagine my condition, over eight thousand miles 
from home, on a little island of only three miles by one half of a mile in 
size, without purse or scrip and almost friendless.

Letter 17: Edward Stevenson to George Q. Cannon, November 15, 
188586

One night, after retiring to my bed for rest, it was made known to me 
by vision that my mission on the rock was fulfilled acceptably before the 
Lord, and I saw a scourge come upon the place soon after my departure, 
for it appeared to me that I was sailing out of the lovely Bay of Gibraltar 
on one of her majesty’s elegant steam packets.

A short time after I had this vision shown to me I received a letter from 
a Mr. Lambel, a resident of Libson [sic], the capital of Portugal. In his com-
munication, Mr. Lambel informed me of the serious illness of his brother-
in-law. The doctors had given him up, as it was out of their power to effect 
a cure. He further stated that he and his family had read a great deal about 
the Latter-day Saints, and had learned of their faith in the ordinances of 
the gospel; and by communications from England he had been told of my 
mission to Gibraltar. He desired me to go to Lisbon and anoint with oil, 
and pray for this sick man, as they fully believed in the healing of the sick 
by the laying on of hands, as was customary among the ancient saints of 
which the Bible tells us.87 The gentleman furnished me nine pounds Eng-
lish money, with which to pay my passage to Lisbon and return, which was 
equal to a full fare from Gibraltar to Southampton, England.

Thus was my deliverance brought about. After the governor’s unfaith-
fulness to fulfill his promise, the Lord opened up my way to accomplish 
what was shown to me by vision. This incident teaches us the lesson that 
the Lord is good and kind to all who put their trust in Him.88

86. Edward Stevenson, “Gibraltar, Letter XVII, Missionary Experience,” 
Juvenile Instructor 20 (November 15, 1885): 339.

87. James 5:14 in the New Testament says, “Is any sick among you? let him 
call for the elders of the church; and let them pray over him, anointing him with 
oil in the name of the Lord.” This is practiced in the Church today, when elders 
place oil on the head of the sick, put their hands on the afflicted’s head, and offer 
a blessing, similar to a prayer. Bruce B. Clark, “Blessings,” in Encyclopedia of 
Mormonism, ed. Daniel H. Ludlow, 4 vols. (New York: Macmillan, 1992), 1:129.

88. Stevenson wrote a few additional letters after he returned to England and 
America: “Foreign Intelligence,” Millennial Star 16 (July 22, 1854): 457–58; and 
Edward Stevenson to Brigham Young, July 5, 1854, published as “Mission at Gibral-
tar,” Deseret News, September 14, 1854, n.p. 
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Appendix:  
Rock Port (Gibraltar) Branch Membership Table
This is a list of the people that Stevenson recorded in his journal89 as 
members of the “Gibraltar Branch.” Spellings have been corrected when 
possible. Stevenson included the parishes where the individuals were 
born, but because they were often misspelled and are not easily found 
today, they have not been included in this list. Very little is known about 
these British members, including whether they immigrated to Utah or 
not, although tens of thousands of other British converts did gather to 
Zion from other British colonies around the world during the mid-1850s.
 
Edward Stevenson, born May 1, 1820, in Gibraltar; baptized in 1834 by 

Japheth Fosdick; held office of seventy; president of the branch.
John (“Elexander”) McCall, born in Scotland; baptized June 28, 1853, by 

Edward Stevenson; member of the branch.
Thomas Miller, born in February 1817 in Charlemont, county Donegal, 

Ireland; baptized June 28, 1853, by Edward Stevenson; member of the 
branch. Stevenson blessed three of Thomas Miller’s children.

Thomas Forbes, born January 15, 1816, in Huntly, Scotland; held office of 
priest; member of the branch.

Thomas McDonald, born November 22, 1828, in Nairn, Nairn County, 
Scotland; baptized November 19, 1853, by Edward Stevenson; mem-
ber of the branch.

John McLean, born in March 1827 in Chrogan, Argyll County, Scotland; 
baptized January 6, 1854, by Edward Stevenson; held office of elder; 
member of the branch.

Peter Hay, born August 28, 1827, in Edinburgh, Midlothian County, 
Scotland; baptized February 2, 1854, by Edward Stevenson; member 
of the branch.

Beach; member of the branch.
Smith; member of the branch.
Smith; member of the branch.
Margeson [or something similar; name is difficult to read]; member of 

the branch.

89. Stevenson, Diary, table after the March 29, 1854, entry.

37

Neilson: Proselyting on the Rock of Gibraltar, 1853-1855

Published by BYU ScholarsArchive, 2016



  V	 131Proselyting on the Rock of Gibraltar

Thomas Jack, born July 29, 1821, in Airdrie, Lanarkshire County, Scot-
land; baptized March 16, 1854, by Edward Stevenson; held office of 
teacher; member of the branch.

Joseph Miller, born July 24, 1838, in Armagh, county Armagh, Ireland; 
baptized March 16, 1854, by Edward Stevenson; member of the 
branch.

John Brown, born in Banbridge, county Down, Ireland; baptized 
March 28, 1854, by Edward Stevenson; member of the branch.

John Miller, born in February 1840 in Armagh, county Armagh, Ireland; 
baptized May 14, 1854; member of the branch.

James Marsial Miller, born in 1844 in Armagh, county Armagh, Ireland; 
baptized May 14, 1854; member of the branch.

Sharlotte Brown; blessed.
Findley Jack, born July 30, 1853, in Gibraltar; blessed June 3, 1854, by 

Edward Stevenson.
Louis Bent, born October 9, 1836, in Desford, Leicestershire County, 

England; baptized October 28, 1854, by Edward Stevenson; member 
of the branch.

Sarah Biddle, born September 5, 1846, in Leicester, Leicestershire, Eng-
land; baptized October 28, 1854, by Edward Stevenson; member of 
the branch.

Henery Brooker, born January 18, 1828, in Brighton, Sussex County, 
England; baptized January 28, 1855, by Edward Stevenson; member 
of the branch.

Ann Brooker, born March 23, 1825, in Brighton, Sussex County, Eng-
land; baptized March 29, 1855, by Edward Stevenson; member of the 
branch.

The author is grateful for the editorial and research assistance of R. Mark Mel-
ville, Kelley Konzack, Jo Lyn Curtis, and Sister Julie Cropper in the preparation 
of this essay.
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